39.667

ORAL ARGUMENT
THURSDAY, JANUARY 21, 1971
FIVE MAN COURT
THIRTY MINUTES TO THE SIDE

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 39,667

WILLIAM C. HOLBEIN and EDWARD RAY HOLBEIN,

Appellants

vs.

RAY J. RIGOT,

Appellee

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WM. R. DAWES 1145 Ingraham Building Miami, Florida 33131

and

JEANNE HEYWARD 808 Concord Building Miami, Florida 33130

Attorneys for Appril ante D

AUG 14 1970

SID J. WHITE
CLERK SUPREME COURT?
Chief Deputy Clerk

# TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs, WILLIAM C. HOLBEIN and EDWARD RAY HOLBEIN, appeal from the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, which held that a portion of a foreign judgment awarding punitive damages obtained by them against Defendant, RAY J. RIGOT, was not entitled to full faith and credit under the Constitution of the United States. (R 225-227).

## POINT INVOLVED

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT, ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT CLAUSE OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES WAS INAPPLICABLE TO A FOREIGN JUDGMENT AWARDING PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHERE THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES WERE AWARDED IN ORDER TO AFFORD PLAINTIFFS A PRIVATE REMEDY FOR INJURY FROM A WRONGFUL ACT RATHER THAN A FIXED PENALTY PROVIDED BY STATUTE TO PUNISH AN OFFENSE COMMITTED AGAINST THE STATE. (Raised by Plaintiffs' Assignments of Error No. 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs William C. Holbein and Edward Ray Holbein filed suit against Defendant Ray J. Rigot in the District Court, 73rd District, Bexar County, Texas, for cancellation and recission of a contract and for damages for false, fraudulent and malicious misrepresentations which induced Plaintiffs to enter into a franchising agreement. The complaint sought compensatory and

punitive damages. (R 25 - 34)

A default judgment was entered against Rigot after he had been served with a citation in the manner prescribed by the laws of Texas where defendant was doing business pursuant to Article 2031-b, Vernor's Annotated Civil Statutes of Texas. (R. 226). A final judgment was entered in favor of plaintiffs against defendant in the sum of \$36,613.03 as compensatory damages and \$25,000 punitive damages. (R. 225, 226).

Plaintiffs then brought suit against Defendant in the Circuit Court of Dade County, Florida, on the foreign judgment. (R. 1-12). Defendant admitted he had received notice of the Texas proceedings by receipt of the citation by mail pursuant to the applicable Texas Statute.\*

<sup>\*</sup> This was the only notice Defendant received and the only notice required. Rule 243 of the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, pertaining to Unliquidated Demands, provides that where a default has been entered in a cause of action for unliquidated damages, the Court shall hear evidence as to damages and shall render a judgment therefore, unless the Defendant shall demand or be entitled to a trial by jury. In the case at bar, Defendant never demanded a jury trial. Texas law also provides that after a default judgment has been entered, plaintiff is not required to seek defendant and notify him that testimony will be heard in the case because defendant should inform himself when evidence will be heard. Failure to notify defendant does not affect the judgment. Western Union Telegraph Co. v. Skinner, 60 Tex. Civ. App. 477, 128 S.W. 715.

Defendant did not allege or assert that the Texas Court did not have jurisdiction over him and did not present any evidence to prove he had never transacted business in the state of Texas. (R. 226).

After hearing the testimony and considering the documentary evidence, the trial court entered a final judgment in favor of Plaintiffs for the full amount of the foreign judgment plus interest and costs. (R. 219, 220).

Defendant appealed to the District Court of Appeal,
Third District, which affirmed the portion of judgment in
favor of Plaintiffs for compensatory damages but reversed the
portion of the judgment awarding them punitive damages. The
District Court of Appeal held that the final judgment was entitled to full faith and credit for actual damages but was not
entitled to full faith and credit for punitive damages based
on the following decisions: Silitronic Chemical Corp. v.

R.K.M. Enterprises, Fla. App. 1967, 197 So. 2d 33; Clay v.

Atchison, T. & S. F. Ry. Co., Texas, 201 S.W. 1072 affirmed,
228 S. W. 907; Farmers & Merchants Trust Co. v. Madeira,
68 Cal. Reports 184; F. E. C. Ry. Co. v. McRoberts, 149 So. 631,
111 Fla. 278.

Plaintiffs have appealed to this Honorable Court on the ground that the decision of the District Court of Appeal is erroneous and that the decision constitutes an initial

Armstrong v. City of Tampa, Fla. 1958, 106 So.2d 407, In Re Kionka's Estate, Fla. 1960, 121 So.2d 644 and Judd v. Schooley, Fla. 1963, 158 So. 2d 514. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari based on conflict jurisdiction simultaneously filed was denied by this Honorable Court by Order dated July 6, 1970 (Case No. 39,662).

## POINT INVOLVED

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL. THIRD DISTRICT, ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE FULL FAITH AND CREDIT CLAUSE OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES WAS INAPPLICABLE TO A FOREIGN JUDGMENT AWARDING PUNITIVE DAMAGES WHERE THE PUNITIVE DAMAGES WERE AWARDED IN ORDER TO AFFORD PLAINTIFFS A PRIVATE REMEDY FOR INJURY FROM A WRONGFUL ACT RATHER THAN A FIXED PENALTY PROVIDED BY STATUTE TO PUNISH AN OFFENSE COMMITTED AGAINST THE STATE.

(Raised by Plaintiffs' Assignments of Error No. 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5).

#### ARGUMENT

The entire Texas Final Judgment awarding Plaintiffs compensatory and punitive damages is entitled to full faith and credit in the Florida courts. The Final Judgment was not based on a Texas penal statute or law but rather based on common law liability for false, fraudulent and malicious representations which induced Plaintiffs to enter into a franchising agreement with Defendant. The lawsuit in Texas is similar to a lawsuit in a Florida court based on fraud, malice or deliberate violence or oppression. Winn & Lovett Grocery Co. v.

Archer, 126 Fla. 308, 171 So. 214; Associated Heavy Equipment Schools v. Masiello, Fla.App. 1969, 219 So.2d 465.

Therefore the enforcement of the Texas judgment in a Florida court does not violate the principle that penal laws of one state are not enforceable in another state because the award of punitive damages was not to punish Defendant for an offense against the state but to give Plaintiffs redress by way of punitive damages for a private wrong.

Article IV, Section 1 of the Constitution of the United States provides that full faith and credit shall be given in each state to the public acts, records and judicial proceedings of every other state. Irving Trust Co. v. Kaplan, 155 Fla. 120, 20 So.2d 351. The only exception to this constitutional guarantee is that penal statutes of one state do not have extraterritorial effect. The type of statute that qualifies as a penal statute as contrasted to a remedial statute was discussed in the leading case of Huntington v. Attrill, 146 U.S. 657, 13 S.Ct. 224, 36 L.Ed. 1123. In that case a Maryland court refused to take jurisdiction of a bill to set aside stock transfers filed by a creditor who had recovered a judgment in New York. The New York judgment was based on a New York statute which made the director of the corporation liable for all corporate debts if he signed a false certificate concerning assets. The Maryland court

refused jurisdiction on the basis that the statute was a penalty and Maryland did not have to enforce the penal laws of New York.

The Supreme Court of the United States reversed on the ground that the New York statute was not a penal law in the international sense and that the Maryland court had denied full faith and credit to the New York judgment. In so holding the Supreme Court set down the following guidelines for determining whether a law is penal or remedial and whether it should be given full faith and credit in other states:

Penal laws, strictly and properly, are those imposing punishment for an offense committed against the State, and which, by the English and American constitutions, the executive of the State has the power to pardon. Statutes giving a private action against the wrongdoer are sometimes spoken of as penal in their nature, but in such cases it has been pointed out that neither the liability imposed nor the remedy given is strictly penal.

\* \* \*

The test whether a law is penal, in the strict and primary sense, is whether the wrong sought to be redressed is a wrong to the public, or a wrong to the individual, according to the familiar classification of Blackstone: "Wrongs are divisible into two sorts or species: private wrongs and public wrongs. The former are an infringement or privation of the private or civil rights belonging to individuals, considered as individuals; and are thereupon frequently termed civil injuries: the latter are a breach and violation of public rights and duties, which affect the whole community, considered as a community;

and are distinguished by the harsher appellation of <u>crimes</u> and <u>misdemeanors</u>." 3 Bl.Com.2.

\* \* \*

The question whether a statute of one State, which in some aspects may be called penal, is a penal law, in the international sense, so that it cannot be enforced in the courts of another State, depends upon the question whether its purpose is to punish an offense against the public justice of the State, or to afford a private remedy to a person injured by the wrongful act. There could be no better illustration of this than the decision of this court in Dennick v. Central R. Co. of N.J., 103 U.S. 11 [26: 439].

In that case, it was held that, by virtue of a statute of New Jersey making a person or corporation, whose wrongful act, neglect or default should cause the death of any person, liable to an action by his administrator, for the benefit of his widow and next of kin, to recover damages for the pecuniary injury resulting to them from his death, such an action, where the neglect and the death took place in New Jersey, might, upon general principles of law, be maintained in a circuit court of the United States held in the State of New York by an administrator of the deceased, appointed in that State.

Mr. Justice Miller, in delivering judgment, said: "It can scarcely be contended that the act belongs to the class of criminal laws which can only be enforced by the courts of the State where the offense was committed, for it is, though a statutory remedy, a civil action to recover damages for a civil injury. It is, indeed, a right dependent solely on the statute of the State; but when the Act is done for which the law says the person shall be liable, and the action by which the remedy is to be enforced is a personal and not a real action, and is of that character which the law recognizes as transitory and not local, we cannot see

why the defendant may not be held liable in any court to whose jurisdiction he can be subjected by personal process or by voluntary appearance, as was the case here. It is difficult to understand how the nature of the remedy, or the jurisdiction of the courts to enforce it, is in any manner dependent on the question whether it is a statutory right or a common law right. Wherever, by either the common law or the statute law of a State, a right of action has become fixed and a legal liability incurred, that liability may be enforced and the right of action pursued in any court which has jurisdiction of such matters and can obtain jurisdiction of the parties." Dennick v. Central R. Co. of N.J., 103 U.S. 17, 18 [26: 441].

This principle was again applied in <u>James-Dickinson</u>

Farm Mortq. Co.v. Harry, 273 U.S. 119, 47 S.Ct. 308, 71 L.Ed.

569 where Mrs. Harry, a citizen of Illinois, sued Dickinson,
a citizen of Texas, and James-Dickinson Farm Mortgage Company,
a Missouri corporation, in an Illinois court for damages resulting from false representations by which Plaintiff was
induced to purchase a tract of land in Texas. The complaint
was based on common law liability and a Texas statute. Plaintiff recovered a judgment and defendants filed a writ of error
to the Supreme Court on the ground that their rights guaranteed under the 14th Amendment had been denied.

The Supreme Court in affirming the judgment against Dickinson rejected the argument that the Illinois judgment had in effect enforced the Texas penal law. In so holding Justice Brandeis said inter alia:

Fourth. It is urged that a federal court for Illinois should not enforce the liability under the Texas statute, because Illinois has not enacted a statute of similar im-The general rule is that one state will enforce a cause of action arising under the laws of another; that a federal court of any district will enforce a cause of action arising under the law of any state; but that ordinarily the courts of one government will not enforce the penal laws of another. The argument is that the Texas statute is a penal law, because it provides: "All persons knowingly and wilfully making such false representations or promises or knowingly taking advantage of such fraud shall be liable in exemplary damages to the person defrauded in such amount as shall be assessed by the jury not to exceed double the amount of the actual damages suffered."

Exemplary damages are recoverable at common law in many states. A statute providing for their recovery by and for injured party is not a penal law. Huntington v. Attrill, 146 U.S. 657, 666-683, 36 L.Ed. 1123, 1127-1133, 13 Sup.Ct.Rep. 224. Compare Atchison, T.&S.F. R. Co. v. Nichols, 264 U.S. 348, 350-351, 68 L.Ed. 720, 727, 44 Sup. Ct. Rep. 353, 23 N.C.C.A. 549. No reason appears why the cause of action arising under the Texas statute should not be enforced in Illinois. The Texas statute as applied in this case does not add any extraordinary feature to the common law liability for fraudulent representations. There is nothing in the public policy of Illinois with which the statutory cause of action is inconsistent. is not shown that substantial justice between the parties cannot be done consistently with the forms of procedure and the practice of the federal courts for Illinois. [Emphasis supplied]

The reasoning in the above decisions illustrates with crystal clarity the error in the decision of the District Court and the fact that the Final Judgment is entitled to

the Constitutional guarantee of full faith and credit.

Not only was Plaintiffs' lawsuit and judgment in Texas based on common law liability [as opposed to statutory liability] but the award of punitive damages was not penal in the international sense in that it punished Defendant for an offense against the public justice of the State of Texas. Rather, it merely afforded a private remedy to Plaintiffs who were injured by Defendant's wrongful acts.

Other jurisdictions have also followed the mandatory guidelines set forth in <u>Huntington v. Attrill</u>, supra, and James-Dickinson Farm Mortg. Co. v. Harry, supra:

Loucks v. Standard Oil Co., 224 NY 99, 120 NE 198 involved an action brought in New York to recover damages for injuries resulting in death arising out of an accident in Massachusetts.

The Massachusetts statute provided for the assessment of damages in the sum of not less than \$500 nor more than \$10,000 against a person whose negligence caused the death of another. The damages were to be assessed with reference to the degree of culpability.

Justice Cardozo in holding that the Massachusetts statute was not penal in nature, and therefore could be enforced in a New York court, said:

"The courts of no country execute the penal laws of another." The Antelope, 10 Wheat, 66, 123, 6 L.Ed. 268. The defendant invokes that principle as applicable here. Penal in one sense the statute indisputably is. damages are not limited to compensation; are proportioned to the offender's guilt. minimum recovery of \$500 is allowed in every But the question is not whether the statute is penal in some sense. The question is whether it is penal within the rules of private international law. A statute penal in that sense is one that awards a penalty to the state, or to a public officer in its behalf, or to a member of the public, suing in the interest of the whole community to redress a public wrong. Huntington v. Attrill, 146 U.S. 657, 668, 13 Sup.Ct. 224, 36 L.Ed. 1123; ington v. Attrill, [1903] A.C. 150, 156; v. Daly, 175 U.S. 148, 154, 157, 20 Sup.Ct. 62, 44 L.Ed. 109; Rauling v. Fischer, [1911] 2 K.B. 93; Dicey, Conflict of Laws, p. 209. The purpose must be, not reparation to one aggrieved, but vindication of the public justice. Huntington v. Attrill, 146 U.S. 668, 13 Sup. Ct. 224, 36 L.Ed. 1123; Brady v. Daly, supra....

\* \* \*

We think the better reason is with those cases which hold that the statute is not penal in the international sense. On that branch of the controversy, indeed, there is no division of opinion among us. It is true that the offender is punished, but the purpose of the punishment is reparation to those aggrieved by his offense....

\* \* \*

Through all this legislation there runs a common purpose. Boott Mills v. B.&M.R.R. Co., supra, 218 Mass. 586, 106 N.E. 680; Brown v. Thayer, 212 Mass. 392, 99 N.E. 237. It is penal in one element and one only; the damages are punitive. The Courts

of Massachusetts do not give punitive damages even for malicious torts except by force of statute. Boott Mills v. B.&M.R.R. Co., supra, 218 Mass. 588, 106 N.E. 680; Ellis v. Brockton Pub. Co., 198 Mass. 538, 84 N.E. 1018, 126 Am.St.Rep. 454, 15 Ann.Cas. 83. That may have led them to emphasize unduly the penal element in such recoveries. But the punishment of the wrongdoer is not designed as atonement for a crime; it is solace to the individual who has suffered a private This is seen in many tokens. The wrong. employer may be innocent himself. Smart money will still be due in proportion to his servant's negligence. That is a distribution of burdens more characteristic of torts than crimes. even more significant is the distribution of benefits....

In <u>Interstate Savings & Trust Co. v. Wyatt</u>, 63 Colo. 1, 164 P. 506 plaintiff recovered a judgment against defendants in the State of Texas based on a Texas statute which gave to a person paying more than the legal rate of interest the right to recover double the amount of the interest so paid. Plaintiff then brought suit in Colorado based on the Texas judgment and recovered a judgment which was affirmed on appeal.

In affirming the Court said that while the Texas statute in a sense was penal as to the party exacting the usurious interest, it was remedial as to the party paying it, and therefore the Texas judgment was entitled to full faith and credit in Colorado on the basis of <u>Huntington v. Attrill</u>, supra.

In <u>Landum v. Livingston</u>, Mo.App. 1965, 394 SW 2d 573, Plaintiff recovered a judgment of \$488.50 actual damages and

\$1000 punitive damages for wrongful repossession of his automobile. The issue on appeal was whether an award of punitive damages was beyond the jurisdiction of the Magistrate Court. The pertinent statute provided that the Magistrate Court shall have original jurisdiction of all civil actions for the recovery of money, whether such action be founded upon contract or a tort, or for a penalty or forfeiture when the sum demanded does not exceed \$2000.

The Court, in holding that the Magistrate Court had jurisdiction based on <u>Huntington v. Attrill</u>, supra, to award punitive damages, said:

- (1) Punitive damages, while having the function of punishing the defendant and deterring others, do not constitute a penalty as that word is used in the jurisdictional statute.
- (2) The mere fact that plaintiff may be allowed to recover more than would be ordinarily embraced in the concept of compensatory damages does not necessarily mean that a penalty is involved.
- (3) Punitive damages do not constitute an independent cause of action but can only be an incident of another cause of action where there is malice or fraud. Therefore before punitive damages can be recovered there must be a cause of action for compensatory damages.

(4) Punitive damages do not constitute penalties but are a part of the basic cause of action in tort and therefore the punitive damages are an integral part of plaintiff's action for the recovery of money within the specific grant of jurisdiction found in the Missouri statute in question.

It is therefore submitted that the decision of the District Court of Appeal which refused to give full faith and credit to the entire Texas judgment denied Plaintiffs a right secured by the Constitution. The Texas judgment awarding compensatory and punitive damages was not based on a penal statute or law of Texas but was rather based on common law liability similar to a right of action in Florida for malice and fraud long recognized by the Florida courts.

The following decisions relied upon by the District Court to support its opinion are easily distinguishable:

Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. McRoberts, 111

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