39.66 1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 39,667

WILLIAM C. HOLBEIN and EDWARD RAY HOLBEIN,

Appellants,

-v-

RAY J. RIGOT,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

FILED

SEP 15 1970

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chie venuty Clerk

HORTON & SCHWARTZ 410 Concord Building Miami, Florida 33130

and

LEVENSON, RICHMAN & HOLOBER Suite 710 Biscayne Building 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida

DENNIS I.HOLOBER OF THE ABOVE FIRM ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

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

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT, DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO ENFORCE THE PENAL PROVISIONS OF A JUDGMENT OF A SISTER STATE.

A. The very nature of punitive damages is penal.

Penal laws are not only state imposed as defined by international custom, but also are imposed by the people of a state to accrue to individuals. They are manifested in terms of extraordinary liability in favor of the person wronged and are not related to those damages actually sustained. Huntington v. Attrill, 1892, 146 U.S. 657, 13 S.Ct. 224, 36 L.Ed. 1123. As Justice Peckham held in Washington Gaslight Co. v. Lansden, 1899, 172 U.S. 534, 19 S.Ct. 296, 43 L.Ed. 543:

Punitive damages are damages beyond and above the amount which a plaintiff has really suffered, and they are awarded upon the theory that they are a punishment to the defendant, and not a mere matter of compensation for injuries sustained by plaintiff. 172 U.S. at 553.

It is readily ascertained by a reading of Washing-

ton Gaslight, supra, that the Supreme Court of the United States did not intend that <u>Huntington</u> be interpreted to limit the definition of a penalty to that of international custom. <u>See also</u>, <u>Scott v. Donald</u>, 1897, 165 U.S. 58, 17 S.Ct. 265, 41 L.Ed. 632.

Moreover, the <u>Huntington</u> case did not deal with punitive damages assessed against a tortfeasor or a penalty by any definition. The action was in the nature of a creditor's complaint involving a New York statute which authorized a remedial cause of action in favor of creditors defrauded by false statements regarding paid-in capital, uttered and signed by directors and officers. This statute was remedial only, damages assessed being only that amount actually suffered by the creditor at the hands of the directors and officers, giving:

. . . a civil remedy, at the private suit of the creditor only, and measured by the amount of his debt, it is as to him clearly remedial. To maintain such a suit is not to administer a punishment imposed upon an offender against the State, but simply to enforce a private right secured under its laws to an individual. 146 U.S. 657, 676-77.

Punitive damages "... blend together the interests of society and of the aggrieved individual..." Smith

v. Bagwell, 1882, 19 Fla. 117, 121. They have as a basic purpose, the punishment of the offender, thereby partaking "... of public wrongs, to a greater or less degree."

Carraway v. Revell, Fla. 1959, 116 So.2d 16, 20.

To be sure, if this Court considered punitive damages as compensatory to any significant degree, in either the international sense or the legally-defined sense, it would not have disallowed punitive damages under Florida's Wrongful Death Act. Florida East Coast Ry. Co. v.

McRoberts, 1933, 111 Fla. 278, 149 So. 631.

B. The discretionary availability of punitive damages evidences their penal nature; they are not available as a matter of right.

Punitive damages, and the determination of their availability, are conceived and effectuated by juridical manifestation of the public policy in the particular jurisdiction. Compensatory damages are available in every jurisdiction to reimburse an injured person for both direct and indirect damages, measured by the quantum of injury. In addition to compensatory damages, a jurisdiction may make available punitive damages, on behalf of its

public and measured by the wilfulness of the wrong and the financial solvency of the tortfeasor, as a deterrent and example to others of the public.

Punitive damages cannot be said to be remedial.

Their award is discretionary and is available in a situation so that a particular kind of conduct, labeled as offensive to the public, may be punished. Curtis Publishing Co. v. Butts, 5th Cir. 1965, 351 F.2d 702 aff'd, 388

U.S. 130, 87 S.Ct. 1975, 18 L.Ed.2d 1094; O'Brien v.

Howell, Fla. 1957, 92 So.2d 608; Winn & Lovett Grocery Co. v. Archer, 1936, 126 Fla. 308, 171 So. 214; Fisher v. City of Miami, Fla. 1965, 172 So.2d 455; Carraway v. Revell,

Fla. 1959, 116 So.2d 16; Kellenberger v. Widener, Fla. App. 1964, 159 So.2d 267; Sauer v. Sauer, Fla. App. 1961,

128 So.2d 761; Jacksonville Frosted Foods, Inc. v.

Haigler, Fla. App. 1969, 224 So.2d 437; 22 Am. Jur. 2d,

Damages § 237.

Judge Wisdom, in <u>Northwestern National Casualty</u>
Co. v. McNulty, 5th Cir. 1962, 307 F.2d 432, held that:

The Florida characterization of punitive damages as a <u>penalty</u>, imposed as a means of punishing the defendant in order to deter him and others from

anti-social conduct, and to no significant extent <u>compensation</u>, conforms with the most widely accepted basis for punitive damages, in other American jurisdictions. At 436.

That Court decided a case wherein an automobile liability insurance company took the position that it was not liable to pay the punitive award against its insured. In that case the Court was, contrary to the cases cited in Appellants' brief, directly faced with the question of the nature of punitive damages. Judge Wisdom, speaking for an undivided Bench, defined the basis of punitive damages as punishment and, in holding that an insurance carrier is not liable for a penalty imposed on its insured, reasoned:

Where a person is able to insure himself against punishment he gains a freedom of misconduct inconsistent with the establishment of sanctions against such misconduct. It is not disputed that insurance against criminal fines or penalties would be void as violative of public policy. The same public policy should invalidate any contract of insurance against civil punishment that punitive damages represent. 307 F.2d at 440.

It is no answer to say, society imposes criminal sanctions to deter wrongdoers; that it is enough when a civil offender, through insurance, pays what he is adjudged to owe. A

criminal conviction and payment of a fine to the state may be atonement to society for the offender. But it may not have a sufficient effect on the conduct of others to make the public policy in favor of punitive damages useful and effective. To make that policy useful and effective the delinquent driver must not be allowed to receive a windfall at the expense of the purchasers of insurance, transferring his responsibility for punitive damages to the very people--the driving public--to whom he is a menace. 307 F.2d at 441-42.

See also, Nicholson v. American Fire and Casualty Co., Fla. App. 1965, 177 So.2d 52.

and above compensation is determined by their nature as a punishment manifested by ". . . extraordinary liability to which the law subjects a wrongdoer in favor of the person wronged, not limited to the damages suffered."

Huntington v. Attrill, 1892, 146 U.S. 657, 667, 13 S.Ct.

224, 36 L.Ed. 1123. The jurisdiction may make punitive damages available in a particular case ". . . not because the party injured is entitled under the law to recover punitive damages as a matter of right, but as punishment to the wrongdoer. . . . " Florida East Coast Ry.

Co. v. McRoberts, 1933, 111 Fla. 278, 149 So. 631, 632.

Finally, if the judgment <u>sub judice</u> were a lump sum, it might be that full faith and credit should be accorded the entire judgment including a portion thereof which might have been awarded as punitive. There would be little basis for the forum court to determine which portion is attributable as a punishment. However, the judgment <u>sub judice</u> included a separate award for punishment, thereby guiding the forum court to make a positive identification of the punishment levied. <u>Cf. Northwestern National Casualty Co. v. McNulty</u>, 5th Cir. 1962, 307 F.2d 432.

C. The nature of punitive damages is the same in Florida and in Texas.

Florida law regarding the nature of punitive damages is controlling in a determination of whether they are a penalty. <u>Huntington v. Attrill</u>, 1892, 146 U.S. 657, 669-71, 13 S.Ct. 224, 36 L.Ed. 1123. However, even if Texas law were to be considered in a determination of the nature of punitive damages, the same result would be reached. That is, since punitive damages are available

in that jurisdiction in certain types of actions (including fraud), they are a punishment to the defendant and a warning and example to him and other members of the public in that jurisdiction, and are awarded in the interest of society, thereby accruing to the benefit of the public in that jurisdiction. Pan American Petroleum Corp. v. Hardy, Tex. Civ. App. 1963, 370 S.W.2d 904.

In a case wherein the major question was whether a corporation could be liable for punitive damages, the Supreme Court of Texas held that:

The principle of exemplary damages is of ancient origin, found not only in the Code of Hammurabi and the Hebrew Laws, but in the early Anglo-Saxon Jurisprudence, and has come down to us through the common law.
[Citations omitted]

Since the Constitution of the state recognizes this ancient principle of the common law, and expressly provides for recoveries of punitive damages against corporations, we should regard its importance and give the provision such a construction as will effectively protect society against the violation of personal rights and social order by corporations, the purposes for which such damages are now generally awarded against individuals. [Citations omitted]

-13-

The rule that exemplary damages were to be awarded for 'example's' sake or as a punishment was very clearly established in this country. [Citations omitted] Fort Worth Elevators Co. v. Russell, Tex. S. Ct. 1934, 70 S.W.2d 397, 402-03.

Cf. Clay v. Atchison, T. & S.F. Ry. Co., Tex. Civ. App. 1918, 201 S.W. 1072, aff'd 228 S.W. 907; Burke v. Bean, Tex. Civ. App. 1962, 363 S.W. 2d 366.

Accordingly, since punitive damages are penal, and since the law is well settled that states do not enforce penal provisions of sister states, the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District, correctly ruled that the punitive damages award was not entitled to full faith and credit in Florida.

POINT TWO

THE TEXAS COURT WAS WITHOUT CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITY TO ASSESS PUNITIVE DAMAGES FOR THE REASON THAT RULE 243 OF THE TEXAS RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE WAS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY APPLIED TO APPELLEE.

A default judgment admits only the cause of action and defendant's commission of the acts, not punitive damages. Florida East Coast Ry. Co. v. McRoberts, 1933, 111 Fla. 278, 149 So. 631.

A judgment entered against a party without hearing or without affording him an opportunity to be heard, is not a judicial determination of his rights, and the judgment is not entitled to full faith and credit. <u>U.S.</u>

Const., 14th Amend.; <u>Washington Gaslight Co. v. Lansden</u>,

1899, 172 U.S. 534, 19 S.Ct. 296, 43 L.Ed. 543; <u>In re</u>

Noell, 8th Cir. 1937, 93 F.2d 5. Not having noticed Appellee of the hearing on damages, the Texas court and Appellants were particularly abusive of this basic constitutional guarantee by placing reliance on a Texas case decided under a different rule (albeit the forerunner of Rule 243, Texas Rules of Civil Procedure). <u>Cf. Western</u>

<u>Union Telegraph Co. v. Skinner</u>, Tex. Civ. App. 1910, 128

S.W. 715, 60 Tex. Civ. App. 477.

Punitive damages are assessed in order to punish, not to place the wrongdoer on the welfare rolls. The amount awarded must be awarded with some knowledge of the party's ability to pay. Therefore, the trier of fact is required to gain knowledge of the party's financial condition before assessing punitive damages. Accordingly, a hearing, with notice thereof, is necessary to make such a determination. Washington Gaslight Co., supra.

Without notice of hearing or in any way attempting to advise Appellee, the Appellants scheduled a hearing on damages wherein a final judgment was rendered. (R. 11-13) The judgment rendered, without opportunity to be heard, was two-fold, to wit: compensatory damages and punitive damages. Since Appellee was not afforded the opportunity to be heard, the Texas court could in no way determine the financial capability of the Appellee, and it could not make a judicially-sound or factually-precise determination of what amount of damages would properly punish the Appellee.

There might be nothing constitutionally forbidden by awarding compensatory damages outside the presence of the defendant so long as the defendant chooses not to be present. The amount of compensatory damages necessarily reflects the proof of injuries suffered by the plaintiff. However, the amount of punitive damages must be measured by the defendant's ability to pay. Therefore, he must be given an opportunity to give evidence of his financial solvency.

Accordingly, Appellee was denied due process of

law by the application of Rule 243, Texas Rules of Civil Procedure, and the punitive damages awarded should not be given full faith and credit. It should be noted that if the judgment at bar were a one-figure lump sum judgment, inherently including some aspect of punishment, the conclusion might be different. Cf. Northwestern National Casualty Co. v. McNulty, 5th Cir. 1962, 307 F.2d 432. However, in the case at bar the judgment specifically noted which portion of the award of damages was remedial and which portion was for punishment.

POINT THREE

THE INVALID JUDGMENT RENDERED IN TEXAS COULD NOT BE ACCORDED FULL FAITH AND CREDIT AS THE TEXAS COURT NEVER ACQUIRED PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER THE APPELLEE.

In accordance with the holdings articulated in the following cases, lack of jurisdiction over the person is subject to appellate determination at any time subsequent to the rendition of judgment where a court has not laid to rest the question. Pendleton v. Russell, 1891, 144 U.S. 640, 12 S.Ct. 743, 36 L.Ed. 574; Hanson v. Denckla, 1958, 357 U.S. 235, 78 S.Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed.2d 1283; People ex rel.

Jones v. Chicago Lloyds, 1945, 391 III. 492, 63 N.E.2d 479, cert. den'd, 329 U.S. 545, 67 S.Ct. 451, 91 L.Ed. 488. In the case at bar, no court concerned itself with the question of personal jurisdiction, not even for a mere recital in the Texas judgment. (R. 5-13)

An action for fraud and deceit is strictly an <u>in</u>

personam action both in Florida and in Texas. Personal

service of the complaint and summons is a constitutional

requirement of the federal constitution in all <u>in perso-</u>

nam actions. <u>U.S. Const.</u>, 14th Amend.; <u>Pennoyer v. Neff</u>,

1877, 95 U.S. 714, 24 L.Ed. 565; <u>Haddock v. Haddock</u>, 1906,

201 U.S. 562, 26 S.Ct. 525, 50 L.Ed. 867.

The only two juridically-approved intrusions into this basic constitutional and common law right are pursuant to the implied consent theory and the "minimal contact" theory, manifested by legislation in what are commonly termed long-arm statutes. International Shoe Co.

v. State of Washington, 1945, 326 U.S. 310, 66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95; Hess v. Pawloski, 1927, 274 U.S. 352, 47

S.Ct. 632, 71 L.Ed. 1091. Cf. Wuchter v. Pizzutti, 1928, 276 U.S. 13, 48 S.Ct. 259, 72 L.Ed. 446, and Cherry v. Heffernan, 1938, 132 Fla. 386, 182 So. 427. It is of no

relevance to the case at bar to consider those cases dealing with a non-resident motor vehicle operator negligently causing an accident and being served through a state officer pursuant to state statute.

Thus, the point for consideration herein is whether the Appellee, a citizen and resident of Florida, (R. 14) was alleged to have had or actually had sufficient contact within the state so that jurisdiction over his person could be obtained by service on a state officer in Texas. That question revolves around the more basic question of whether the Appellee was doing business in Texas.

Actually "doing business" within a state is required where jurisdiction over the person is obtained by the applicable state long-arm statute. International

Shoe Co. v. State of Washington, supra; Hanson v. Denckla, supra; Perkins v. Benquet Consolidated Mining Co., 1952,

342 U.S. 437, 72 S.Ct. 413, 96 L.Ed. 485; McGee v. International Life Ins. Co., 1957, 355 U.S. 220, 78 S.Ct. 199,

2 L.Ed. 2d 223. Such is the case under Article 2031-b,

Vernon's Annotated Civil Statutes of Texas.

Temporary conduct of business is not sufficient to

establish minimal contact under Texas law. Allied Finance Co. v. Prosser, 1961, 103 Ga. App. 538, 119 S.E.2d 813.

Further, mere solicitation of business is not sufficient to establish minimal contact. Peterson v. U-Haul

Co., 8th Cir. 1969, 409 F.2d 1174; Wilshire Oil Co. of

Texas v. Riffe, 10th Cir. 1969, 409 F.2d 1277; Richter v.

Impulsora DeRevolcadero, S.A., S.D.N.Y. 1967, 278 F. Supp.

169; Metropolitan Staple Corp. v. Samuel Moore & Co.,

S.D.N.Y. 1967, 278 F. Supp. 85; Divecchio v. Gimbel Brothers, W.D. Pa. 1966, 40 F.R.D. 311.

Moreover, even if this Court were to decide that Appellee was "doing business" within the articulated factual definitions, the next question to be determined is whether the cause of action was incidental to or arose out of that conduct of business.

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